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The Macon County Courthouse, Macon, Missouri is a two-story brick b¥1]ding con-
structed in the Romanesque Revival style with Italianate detailing.' It conforms
to a Greek cross plan, though its north wing is shorter than the others.

EXTERIOR

Overall dimensions

The courthouse measures approximately 65' along its north and south wings and 80'
along those to the east and west. These measurements include the projections of
the flanking wings to each side of each wing.

|
Construction materials and colors
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The courthouse, is constructed of red brick laid in.common-hond. . The rock-faced,
ashlar foundat}ons are of native limestone from Coal Hollow, southwest of the
city of Macon.® Decorative details on the courthouse facade are of brick, Time-
stone and wood and are painted white throughout. The roof is cross-gabled and

covered with white, asphalt shingles.

Important design features

South facade. The design of the three-bayed, projecting south facade centers on

the main entrance to the buyilding. Here, a double, multi-paneled, wooden door is
topped by a transom with wooden mullions. and muntins suggesting a double Vendramini
window.? Surrounding the arched doorway opening are two, wooden, twisted rope-
moldings. A1l of these features are enclosed beneath an applied, wooden gable which
is adorned with an arcuated corbel table along its cornice ]ine. Flanking this
entrance, two, single Vendramini windows with wooden mullions and muntins rise above
Timestone Tugsills which are supported by limestone consoles. Only the lower,
two-1ight sash of these windows is movable., The heads of these-openings are
enclosed by rollock arches.

At the second floor level, a centralized, double Vendramini window is flanked by
two, single windows of the same type. Above, at the attic level, a central,

round window pierces the wall. Capping this facade, an arcuated corbel table rests
beneath a molded, boxed cornice which is supported by clusters of complex brackets
at the gable peaks and corner turnings. The south sides of the east and west wings
of the courthouse are also visible on this side of the building. Each has one
Yendramini window at the level of each of its two floors.

North facade: The five-bayed north-facade is-similar in design to the south. All
of its windows are of the single Vendramini type. The single-leaf door has six
panels and a Vendramini-style transom. This door, as well as that on the south
facade, enters the main north-south corridor of the building.
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TATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Mzcon County Courthouse, Macon, Missouri is a significant local example of the
Romanesque Revival style of architecture with Italianate detailing, and 1t has played
an fmportant role in the history and organization of its city, county and the state of
Missourt.

. . . L
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Beside the Macon county seat, only one courthouse of the nineteenth century survives

in Missour! which exhibits characteristics of a similar style." The Clark County Court-
house (Kahoka, 1871) resembles the Macon example with 1ts round-arched windows, plain
wall surfaces, brackets and cross-gabled design. In addition, it has a cupola which is
embellished with arches flanked by pilasters and capped with ?ecornt1ve brackets in a
manner similar to the former cupola of the Macon county seat,

Macon County was established by an act of the Missouri Legislature on January 6, 1837,
It was named for Nathanial Macon, a Revolutionary War herc and a member of the Naorth
Carolina Senate, the U.S. House of Representatives and the U.S. Senate. The first
meeting of the County Court was held at the home of Jqseﬁh Owenby on May 1, 1837. The
following Ju1y,'th2'cohk§ met at the home of Dabney ‘Garth, and 1t céOntinued to meet
there unti! May 7, 1838. ‘ e T e e PR

On April 13, 1838 the county seat was moved to a fifty acre tract which was donated

by James Cochran and Daniel C. Hubbard at Box Ankle, Missourt. Special commissioners,
who had been appointed by the state legislature in 1837, picked Box Ankle because of
1ts central tocation within the county. The name of the town was fmmediately changed
to Bloomington, and, at its August term, 1837, the County Court ordered that a tempor-
ary courthouse be built there, This building was constructed at a cost of $209 by
William E. Green.S

Hithin a year the temporary courthouse proved to be 1nadequate. In November, 1839 the
court ordered the construction of a brick courthouse twg stories in height and 45°®
square. This building was completed by November, 1841.

Due to 1ts Tocation at the junction of two railroads, the city of Macon was regarded
as a strategic key to northeast Missouri during the Civil War and was garrisoned with
Union troops. Since the town of Bloomington was'Southeirn in 1t sympathies, General
Lew{s Merrill, the commander of the Union troops at Macon, deécidett’ that Bldomington's
assistance to the southern cause could not be tolerated. He ordered Major Thomas
Moody to burn the entire town. Moody, who was reared in the area and had many friends
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East and west facades. Each of these is five bays wide and nearly identical in
design to the north facade. The only difference rests in the slight asymmetry of
the east and west sides; the central bay of each is placed slightly off center
toward the north. In addition, the part of the south wing which is visible on

the west side of the building is plain except for one, small, square window at the
ground floor level. At the corresponding area on the east side, a single rec-
tangular window at the first floor level has been modified into another of the
Vendramini type. Each of the east and west facades has a doorway which is identical
in style to that of the north facade. That on the east enters directly into the
ancillary east-west corridor, while the west door provides access directly into
the ladies restroom only.

INTERTOR

The interior of the Macon County Courthouse has been completely renovated within
the last four years. There is no basement.

First floor. The first floor houses the offices of the County Court, Clerk,
Treasurer and Collector and those of the Circuit Clerk and Voter Registration. In
addition, two restrooms are located here. All of these rooms are grouped around a
central, north-south corridor. Some of the original woodwork, which is carved with
decorative moldings, remains in this area. In the Voter Registration Office, a
small closet survives which is framed by a Greek Revival surround.

Second floor. The second floor is reached by a double-wide stair west of the main
entrance. Located here are the offices of the Circuit Judge, the Juvenile Court
and the Circuit Courtroom. In the courtroom, the original judge's bench survives.
Its design resembles a T-shaped pylon in form, and it is decorated with molded
panels,

Attic. An unfinished attic caps the building, Light is provided here by the four,
round windows which pierce each of the four sides of the building. Access to the
attic is provided through the ceiling at the south end of the second floor. This
portion of the building is presently topped by a communications tower located at
the gable crossing.

ALTERATIONS
01d views of the courthoHse reveal that the building once had a system of heating

which involved chimneys.” These were removed in 1835 when the annex was built at
the southwest corner of the courthouse square. At that time, steam heating facilitie
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were installed in the basement of the new building, and pipes were laid connegting
this system to the courthouse. It has served both buildings since that time.

01d views of the courthouse reveal that the original design included rose tracery

in the round window on the south facade and an Italianate cupola which supported

a clock tower at the gable crossing. This cupola was adorned with arcuated openings
which were flanked by pilasters capped with decorative brackets. Insaddition. the
same views show that arched shutters originally flanked each window.

Renovations of 1940 caused some changes in the design of the courthouse. The
cupola and c]9ck tower were removed, and the shutters were taken down and stored
in the attic. Inside, two, curving staircases, one to the east and one to the
west of the main entrance, originally led to the courtroom gpstairs. These were
- removed at this time and replaced by the present stagrcase. In addition, new floors
were Taid and new seats were added to the courtroom.

In the summer of 1971, the exteriors of the courthouse and annex were given a 1ift.
The brick walls of the courthouse were pai?aed red, and the corbel tables there, and
the trim on the annex, were painted white.

In 1974 the interiors of the courthouse and annex were completely renovated. !
The county spent over $18,000 to have the buildings carpeted, painted, paneled
and air conditioned. In addition, new lighting fixtures were installed and the
ceilings were lowered, hiding much of the woodwork and the upper portions of the
ornate windows.

In the courtroom on the second floor of the main courthouse, a new public address
system was installed, and the jury's box and judge's bench were moved from the east
to the west side of the courtroom. As a part of this work, the original judge's
bench, which was first used in 1864, was restored. It was stripped of its ply-
wood sheathing, painted and given a new top surface.

CONDITION
Due to the recent renovations, the condition of the building is excellent.
THE ANNEX
This building, yhich was constructed in 1895 at a cost of $7,000'2 by John H.

Konefas and Son'?, is southwest of the courthouse on the courthouse square. It
is constructed of red brick with limestone, wooden and cast iron trim. Its plan
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is T-shaped with the trunk of the T jutting to the south, forming the central,
three-bayed portion of the south facade. A truncated hip roof caps its northern
portion, while a medium hip tops the trunk of the T to the south. Its roof is
covered with white, asphalt shingles.

The five-bayed, south facade is formed by a three-bayed, central projecting portion
and two, recessed, flanking bays. All of the important decorative features of the
building are to be found here. The coursed, rock-faced, ashlar foundation of
Timestone rises approximately three feet to a wide course of smoothed, limestone,
ashlar blocks. A staircase six risers in height leads to the main entrance, a double,
mylti-paneled door which is topped by a fanlight transom. The muntins of this
transom form a radiating, lTanceolate pattern. The entrance rests beneath a brick
arch which is six headers in width. Alternating bricks in the third row of this
configuration are raised to form a radiating corbel table. The sixth row is raised
again and forms a hood mold which terminates on each side of the doorway in a
tripartite corbel stop. This arched motif continues 'to either side where it caps
each of the niches which flank the entrance. Each of these niches sits on a lime-
stone lugsill.

At the second floor level, three, arched windows rest on a limestone string course.
Each is composed of double-hung sash and a round-arched transom with wooden muntins
which form a lanceolate pattern similar to that in the fanlight over the main
entrance. These windows are arched and molded in a manner virtually identical to
the features on the first floor.

Each corner-turning on the exterior of the annex is adorned with a monumentatl,
brick pilaster which rises from the smoothed, limestone, ashlar course to the
cornice level. Each pilaster is capped by a row of dentils formed from projecting
headers. Between the pilasters, at the same level as these capitals, a corbel
course, which is composed of two rows of headers, runs across the south facade and
surrounds the building. The molded, denticulated cornice, which sits above, is
formed from cast iron and painted white.

The decoration of the north, east and west sides of the annex is similar to

the south. In these areas all windows are capped by segmental arches, and those

at ground level are double-hung without transoms. In addition, there is one double
chimney at the center of the northern portion of the hip roof.
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INTERIOR

The basement of the annex houses the heating equipment for this building and the
courthouse. At the first floor level is the office of the County Recorder, while
the second floor is the location of the Probate Court and related offices. The
interior of this building was renovated in 1974 in a manner similar to the court-
house.

SITE

Macon County Courthouse and annex are tocated on the courthouse square in Macon,
Missouri. This area measures 250' square and is bordered on the east and west by
two branches of North Rollins Street, on the north by Sheridan Street and on the
south by Washington Street. To the south of the courthouse, a granite monument

has been raised which 1ists the Macon County dead of llorid War I. To the southeast,
a similar monument lists the fatalities of lorld War Il. To the southwest, between
the courthouse and the annex, an historic marker has been placed near the curb on
Washington Street. In addition, several large trees are located to the east and
north of the courthouse.

A concrete sidewalk borders the square along the curb, and branches of it foilow
the axes and diagomals of the building and lead to the entrances on each side.

In addition, diagonally placed sidewalks give access to the annex and surround the
courthouse, connecting each of the main access walkways.

To the north, east and west, the courthouse square borders on a residential area
of large to middle-sized, older homes. To the south, the two branches of North
Rollins Street join in front of the courthouse and continue south through downtown
Macon. This placement of Macon County Courthouse in a public square which is
located at the terminus of a major thoroughfare so that it may be viewed directly,
even from downtown, has been noted as a prim?4examp1e of effective courthouse
design and city planning in the Middle West.

PRESENT STATUS

The courthouse and annex are not threatened at the present time, and the county
has no plans to abandon them.



Form No 10-3003

{Rev 10-74)
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

MACON COUNTY COURTHOUSE AND ANNEX

CONTINUATION SHEET ITEM NUMBER 7 PAGE 5

4,

[54]

FOOTNOTES

Using the criteria given in Marcus Whiffen, American Architecture Since 1780:
A Guide to the Styles (Cambridge: M.I.T. Press, 1969}, pp. 61-67, this

building can be shown to be part of the Romanesque Revival which began ca.

1840 in the United States. Paul Goeldner in "Temples of Justice: Nineteenth
Century County Courthouses in the Midwest and Texas," (unpublished Doctor's
dissertation, Columbia University, 1970), p. 151 and pp. 158-160, however,

calls the style of the Macon County Courthouse Italian Classicism since it
combines Romanesque details with characteristics, such as the complex, decorative
windows, which he sees as derived from Italian Romanesque, Gothic and Renaissance
prototypes. A more Italianate image is presented by the building as it originall
appeared with 1ts cupola intact.

"County Ready to Mark History at Courthouse," Macon [Missouri] Chronical-Herald,
August 12, 1972, p. 1.

This term is taken from the description of the Macon County Courthouse in
Goeldner, “Temples of Justice," p. 151. It describes a double, round-arched
window topped by a round Tight which is flanked by two batement lights. The
whole 1s then enclosed beneath a round arch as is seen on the Palazzo Vendramini-
Calergi in Venice, Italy (1509). See Peter Murray, The Architecture of the
[talian Renaissance (New York: Schocken Books, 1963), pp. 91-9Z.

Two old views can be seen in Atlas of Macon County, Missouri {Philadelphia:
Harrison and Warner, 1875), p. 100 and History of Randolph and Macon Counties,
Missouri (St. Louis: National Historical Co., 1884), p. 699.

Statement by J. Parker Stokes, personal interview, March 3, 1978,

Supra, note 4.

Data exerpted from the National Register Inventory-Nomination Form for the
Macon County Courthouse, completed by J. Parker Stokes, Macon County Historical
Society, dJanuary 31, 1976.

"Courthouse to be 100 Years 01d Soon," Macon [Missouri] Chronicle-Herald,
August 17, 1965, p. 1.

"County Ready to Mark History at Courthouse.”
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10.

11.

12.
13.
14,

Ibid. Whether or not the corbels were originalily painted white is unknown,
though, strictly speaking, the Romanesque Revival style would have demanded
that they be unpainted. In the old view of the courthouse in the Macon
County Atlas, p. 100, however, they appear to be lighter than the rest of
the building.

The information in the following paragraph is taken from "The Renovation,"
Macon [Missouri] Chronicle-Herald, January 10-11, 1975, p. 5.

"County Ready to Mark History at Courthouse."
Statement by J. Parker Stokes, personal interview, March 22, 1978.

Goeldner, "Temples of Justice," p. 30.
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in Bloomington, did not wish to obey the harsh order. He came up with an alternate
plan to lessen the influence of the town without destroying the property of the
citizens or the county records stored there. He proposed to General Merrill that
he be allowed to run for the state legislature. If elected, he promised to intro-
duce a bill to move the county seat from Bloomington to Macon. In 1863 Moody

was elected to the Missouri Legislature, and he secured the passage of a bill
providing for the removal of the county seat to the junction of the North Missouri
and the Hannibal and St. Joseph Railroads at Macon. The bill was adopted by the
legislature within forty-eighg hours after its introduction on March 18, 1863 as

an act of military necessity.

On May 4, 1863, J.M. Love and W.T. Gilman, agents who had been appointed by the
County Court to find a suitable place for holding court in Macon, reported to the
court that they had arranged for the county to rent Allen Academy6 a school at the
corner of Jackson and Union Streets, to serve as the county seat.

The C9unty Court met for the first time in Macon at the Allen Academy on June 1,
1863.7 Cases included civil disputes (debt actions, real estate conflicts, divorces
and naturalizations, among others) and criminal complaints (murder, grand larceny,
robbery, gambling and selling liquor, among others).

On October 7, 1863 three proposals were made for a permanent location for the
county seat after a stugy of the possibilities in the area. The first of these
proposals was accepted,® and in February, 1864 Fred Rowland was appointed to
superintend the building of a courthouse in the center of the public square on
Rollins Street.’

In 1864 Union soldiers took possession of Allen Academy. ?8urt was subsequently
held in a small school house nearby until September, 1865.

The present Macon County Courthouse was designed and built by the architect Levi
Aldrich. Little is known of this man, but he is believed to have been a Missourian,
and he also built, and probably designed, the Chariton ??unty Courthouse in Keytes-
ville, Missouri (1866; burned in 1973 and not rebuilt). Similarities between

the two courthouse designs include their brick construction, paired and widely
spaced brackets, and arcuated corbel tables in which each corbel is given a base

of one projecting header. In addition, each ?Ei1d1ng has a central bell tower,
though their derivations are quite different.

During the construction of the building, Fred Rowland, who had been named super-
intendent in 1864, resigned and was succeeded by Harvey Patton. Erected at a cost
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of $30,000, the building was ready for occupancy 1?38eptember, 1865, and it has
served as Macon County Courthouse since that time. To provide additional space,
the two-story annex was erected ?2 the public square in 1895 to house the Probate
Court and the Recorder's 0ffice.

In the 1930's the security of the courthouse was threatened. Federal money became
available, and a group in Macon moved for the construction of a new courthouse.
Interested people in the town organized, however, and the building was saved. A
$15,000 federal appropriation was spent on redecoration, new floors and seats in
the courtroom and other 1mpr?gements instead of in redesigning, drastically changine
or demolishing the building.

The survey of Missouri's historic sites is based on their selection as they relate
to theme studies in Missouri history as outiined in *Missouri's State Historic
Preservation Plan." Therefore, the Macon County Courthouse and annex are being
nominated to the National Register of Historic Places as an example of the themes
of "Architecture", “Political Affairs" and "Urban Design.

FOOTNOTES
1. The architect of this building is unknown. Report on the Clark County Court-
house in the "Clark County Courthouse File," Office of Historic Preservation,
Department of Natural Resources, Jefferson City, Missouri.

2. "Historic Missouri Courthouses - Macon County Courthouse," Missouri Historical
Review, LIX (July, 1965), 545.

3. It was to be constructed “. . . .on Tot 1, block 3, agreeable to the plan of
Joseph Owenby, supervisor, to wit: 20 feet wide and 30 feet long; one room
18 X 20; one 12 feet square; one room 8 X 12 feet; the lower floor to be of
good seasoned oak plank, jointed and nailed down; the upper floor to be laid
with loose plank, with sufficient joints; 4 doors and 3 windows; one stack
chimney where the walls separate each room. The work to be done in workman-
1ike manner; to be covered with good shingles; chinked and plastered with
good 1ime." From History of Macon and Randolph Counties, Missouri {(St. Louis:
National Historical Co., 1884), p. 733.

4. Ibid,

5. "Courthouse to be 100 Years 01d Soon," Macon [Missouri] Chronicle-Herald,
August 17, 1965, p. 1.
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MACON COUNTY COURTHOUSE AND ANNEX #2
Macon, Missouri
Photographer: Noelle Soren

March, 1978
Department of Natural Resources, P.0. Box
176, Jefferson City, Mo. 65101
South facade, main entrance to courthouse,
detail of doorway showing multi-paneled leaves,
rope moldings, the Vendramini transom and
the arcuated corbel table beneath the applied
wooden aable.
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